
 
 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING BOARD 
April 12, 2022 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:     Chairperson Paul Ritz, Vice Chairperson Larson,  

Board Member Grundhoefer, Board Member Van Hoose, 
Board Member Powell, Board Member Sampson 

 
MEMBERS ABSENT:       Board Member Villegas (virtual – no voting). 
 
STAFF PRESENT:          Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon, Historic 

Preservation Planner Harding, Assistant City Attorney 
Lindsay, Help Desk Technician Russo, Development Services 
Director Morris 

                                               
STAFF VIRTUAL: Senior Planner Statler 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: Bob Cordes, Jim English, Brian Spencer, Bob Humley 
 
AGENDA:  

 Quorum/Call to Order 

 Approval of Meeting Minutes from March 8, 2022  
New Business:  

 Variance Request – 523 E. Gregory Street 

 Aesthetic Review – 523 E. Gregory Street 

 Site Plan and Aesthetic Review – 711 S. Palafox Street 

 Request for Map Amendments – Baptist Hospital Annexation 

 Request for Map Amendments – Mark Eaton Annexation 

 Request for Map Amendments – Richards Memorial United Church Property 
Annexation 

 Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Coastal Management Element 

 Open Forum 

 Discussion  

 Adjournment 
 
Call to Order / Quorum Present 
Chairperson Paul Ritz called the meeting to order at 2:00 pm with a quorum present and 
explained the procedures of the Board meeting including requirements for audience 
participation.   
 



City of Pensacola 
Planning Board  
Minutes for April 12, 2022 
Page 2 

 
 

Approval of Meeting Minutes - Board Member Larson made a motion to approve the 
March 8, 2022 minutes, seconded by Board Member Grundhoefer, and it carried 
unanimously.   

 
New Business –  
Variance Request to Section 12-3-12 (1) D.9 – 523. E Gregory Street  
Chairperson Paul Ritz addressed the board and stated that applicant, Bob Cordes, is 
representing the purchasers of a noncompliant restaurant and converting into a further 
noncompliant restaurant located at 523 E. Gregory Street. Board Member Grundhoefer 
inquired if there was a setback. Historic Preservation Planner Harding stated that the 
location is within the Gateway Review zoning district in which setbacks are based upon 
specific roads. Bob Cordes stated that they complied with the setbacks. A discussion 
continued in regards to impervious pavers. Board Member Van Hoose thanked the 
developer for vision and inquired if there would be room for a car in the specified area. Bob 
Cordes stated that there would not be room for a vehicle and that it would remain 
landscaped. Board Member Van Hoose asked if the paved area will be where what is now 
grass on the lot and if traffic flow around the building would be impacted. Bob Cordes 
answered yes and no respectively. Board Member Van Hoose asked what the specific 
condition was and noted that the situation of no outside seating was not created by the 
city. Board Member Powell asked if railroad right of way is a special condition. Chairperson 
Paul Ritz stated that 81% does not include the triangle of railroad right of way. Chairperson 
Paul Ritz stated that as a board all need to agree with all seven variance criteria and 
deliberation was needed. Chairperson Paul Ritz asked if it was an action of the application. 
Vice Chair Larson stated that going from 75 to 81 by variance and now more. Historic 
Preservation Planner Harding said he did not think this met the variance criteria, the site 
is existing non-conforming. Chairperson Paul Ritz agreed with Historic Preservation 
Planner Harding. Grundhoefer and Van Hoose both stated there were not conditions that 
exist that are peculiar for criteria #1. Chairperson, Paul Ritz, stated that if all the criteria 
are not met, the board need not continue. Bob Cordes asked if criteria would be met if he 
reduced the amount of impervious surface. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager, Cannon 
stated that in asking for a variance, all criteria needed to be met. Assistant City Attorney, 
Lindsay stated a motion could be made that honors the intent and meets with policy of the 
Board. Reading from the code, Lindsay stated that Cordes could appeal to the Circuit Court 
if he did not agree with the ruling. Assistant City Attorney, Lindsay continued by saying that 
in Quasi, you are sitting and acting as a judge in a court of law. Furthermore, applicant 
(Cordes) has a right to rebuttal, including after deliberation. Harding stated that it can be 
approved, denied, or modified to a lesser amount. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager, 
Cannon followed this by stating it still must meet the criteria. Chairperson, Paul Ritz 
clarified by asking if it was being suggested to move the impervious surface to an 
alternative area. Bob Cordes stated he was in agreement to shift some of the impervious 
area by using impervious pavers. Chairperson, Paul Ritz inquired if anyone had been to 
Fusion and stated the applicant could trade some pervious to impervious pavers to get 
81%. While showing the area on the screen, Bob Cordes stated that the seating is needed, 
and he would like to take the surface at the dumpsters and replace with pervious pavers. 
Board member Van Hoose stated if there are able to make that exchange, a motion would 
not be needed. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager, Cannon stated that Bob Cordes 
must work this out with engineering and then a variance would not be required. 
Chairperson, Paul Ritz asked if everyone understood that they were getting to 85% and 



City of Pensacola 
Planning Board  
Minutes for April 12, 2022 
Page 3 

 
 

not staying at 81%. Board Member Grundhoefer stated that whatever the area, grant the 
variance with modifications to offset the amount of area (+/- 600 square feet) with equal 
amount of pervious pavers. The special condition is adding pervious area to offset. Board 
Member Powell stated special conditions were existing or we have determined there was 
one. Board member Grundhoefer made a motion to approve contingent on the 
special condition, seconded by Board Member Powell, and it carried 6:0.  
 

Aesthetic Review – 523 E. Gregory Street 
Bob Cordes is requesting a new color scheme, removal of storefront doors, addition of a 
New Orleans flair to design, a door to outside seating, window replacement, and the 
addition of handicap parking spaces. Chairperson, Paul Ritz, stated the presentation was 
weak due to missing images other than the photo of the door. Board Member, 
Grundhoefer, asked if the outdoor dining area would be fenced as they typically are. Bob 
Cordes stated they planned on moving the existing fence to the outdoor dining area. He 
further stated that he was unsure if they would get the variance so they did not plan 
much other than the color scheme changing. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager, 
Cannon, stated ECUA provided comments regarding an easement on former DeLeon 
Right of way and stated they can’t have a permanent structure. Assistant Planning & 
Zoning Manager Cannon asked if Chairman Paul Ritz was requesting color elevations. 
Chairperson, Paul Ritz stated that in prior cases, more informative plans have been 
shown and these plans are inconsistent. He stated it is difficult to address with what was 
presented.  Board Member Grundhoefer asked if the three items could be abbreviated 
review. Chairperson, Paul Ritz stated the last two had gone to Board Member, 
Grundhoefer. He requested a motion from the Board to request additional information via 
an abbreviated review. Board Member Grundhoefer made a motion to approve the 
request with additional information to be approved via abbreviated review, 
seconded by Board member Charletha Powell, and it carried 6:0.  
 
 

Site Plan and Aesthetic Review – Application – 711 S. Palafox Street 
Jim English is requesting a Site Plan and Aesthetic Review for 711 S. Palafox Street. 
Brian Spencer referenced 4040 Dunwoody Drive. Jim English discussed with neighbors 
that their building falls under the category of being a contributing structure by the 
Architectural Review Board unlike his structure. Historic Preservation Planner Harding 
provided a history of demo approval.  Brian Spencer stated that a precast building 
system is most appropriate and least impactful to adjacent buildings. Further stating that 
if you have been along I-10, a building can be seen being constructed using precast. 
Access to sides is virtually impossible to attain as is the rear due to Baylen Slip. 
Discussion during demo requested street level detail. Chairperson, Paul Ritz, stated 
horizontal lines and color like the Cultural Center would be preferable than white in an 
area with brick. Brian Spencer stated it was to be tan-muted limestone. Assistant 
Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon referenced special consideration to building within a 
historic district. Brian Spencer stated that Jim English was at the meeting and could 
discuss color. Brian Spencer stated to the south is painted stucco, and next painted 
stucco in pale green. On the north is a newer brick building. Across the street is blue-ish 
stucco. Brian Spencer further stated they are not interested in faux brick. Brian Spencer 
said each floor is 3400 square feet, if architects can view floor plan and remote access 
stairways. Board member Grundhoefer stated that the building is handsome and he is 



City of Pensacola 
Planning Board  
Minutes for April 12, 2022 
Page 4 

 
 

sure they will come up with a beautiful color. Board Member Grundhoefer stated the 
garage was lacking human scale. Brian Spencer stated that due to FEMA, a habitable 
space is not allowed. Board Member Grundhoefer stated that it could be created visually. 
Board Member Grundhoefer also stated the wall can be blank, not like the Publix façade 
on Cervantes, but something other than a blank wall could be done. Discussion moved 
onto floor plan. Brian Spencer stated that rooms along Palafox would have a glass door 
with ornate entry to building. Chairperson, Paul Ritz asked if there could be 
embellishment. Brian Spencer stated it goes against good design. Chairperson, Paul Ritz 
stated spandrel glass could be used to create a storefront effect and could not be seen 
through. Board Member Grundhoefer stated he wanted the building to feel pedestrian. 
Jim English mentioned the last thing he wanted to do was stucco and brick, rather, he 
wanted to bring a historic feeling to South Palafox and with color and texture you can do 
anything. Chairperson Paul Ritz circled back to wanting to see something at a pedestrian 
scale other than one nice door and 3 blank spaces. Brian Spencer stated there was an 
opportunity to create a framework of door and spandrel glass and a transom for 
reflectivity.  Board Member Powell stated this was a good compromise. Board Member 
Grundhoefer stated that the backside is contemporary and completely appropriate, 
Chairperson Paul Ritz agreed. Board Member Van Hoose stated that she is not excited 
about white and felt a darker color would be better due to the abundance of brick on the 
street. Discussion moved to street view of Escambia Courthouse Building. Chairperson 
Paul Ritz stated that the elevation is much different. Board Member Van Hoose stated it 
would be preferred if it blended with those buildings around it. Chairperson Paul Ritz 
reminded board it was a site plan and aesthetic review before the Board. Board Member 
Grundhoefer stated future revisions could go through an  abbreviated review process. 
Chairperson Paul Ritz stated it is a major building. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager 
Cannon mentioned that another consideration is to have them be approved together as 
this will continue before City Council. Brian Spencer stated he appreciated the 
Abbreviated Review due to construction timing. The abbreviated review will go to both 
Chairperson Paul Ritz and Board Member Grundhoefer. Board Member Powell made a 
motion to approve the request with additional information to be approved via 
abbreviated review, seconded by Board member Larson, and it carried 6:0. 
 
Request for Map Amendments to the City’s Zoning and Future Land Use Maps – 
Baptist Hospital Annexation 
Request for Map Amendments to the City’s Zoning and Future Land Use Maps – Baptist 
Hospital Annexation introduced by Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon. 
Baptist Hospital acquired additional parcels adjacent to the site of their new campus and 
subsequently requested annexation of the subject. This requires a map amendment to 
establish a new zoning district. It is customary to apply the adjacent zoning district. This 
was initiated through the voluntary annexation process; the city did not involuntarily apply 
these to Baptist. Vice Chair Larson made a motion to approve, seconded by Board 
Member Sampson, and it carried 6:0.  
 
 
Request for Map Amendments to the City’s Zoning and Future Land Use Maps – 
Mark Eaton Annexation 
Request for Map Amendments to the City’s Zoning and Future Land Use Maps Mark 
Eaton Annexation, introduction skipped due to similarity to Baptist annexation. Vice Chair 



City of Pensacola 
Planning Board  
Minutes for April 12, 2022 
Page 5 

 
 

Larson asked about the gap between the two parcels and asked if it created an enclave 
and if this was permitted. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon stated that they 
cannot create an enclave, access must remain to the other parcels. Mark Eaton has met 
the criteria of the state and avoided creating an enclave. Vice Chair Larson made a 
motion to approve, seconded by Board Member Sampson. Community Member, Bob 
Humley approached stand and introduced himself. Was confused if he needed to be 
there due to confusing signage making him think he was being annexed. Assistant 
Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon and Chairperson Paul Ritz cleared that he was not 
being annexed, but if he could pursue this through a voluntary process if so desired. 
Vote carried 6:0.  
 
Request for Map Amendments to the City’s Zoning and Future Land Use Maps – 
Richards Memorial United Church Property Annexation 
Request for Map Amendments to the City’s Zoning and Future land Use Maps – 
Richards Memorial United Church Property Annexation introduced by Assistant Planning 
& Zoning Manager Cannon. Stated that the jurisdictional boundary goes through the 
middle of the property and it is being requested into one jurisdiction. Chairperson Paul 
Ritz asks if there is any discussion or a motion. Vice Chair Larson asked if owner wanted 
this annex. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon answered that this annex was 
voluntary. Vice Chair Larson made a motion to approve, seconded by Board 
Member Sampson, and vote carried 6:0.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Coastal Management Element 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Coastal Management Element introduced by 
Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon. In 2015, the Florida Legislature passed 
the Peril of Flood Law which directed jurisdictions that have a Coastal Management 
Element as part of their comprehensive plan to include a redevelopment component 
with principles that must be used to eliminate inappropriate and unsafe development in 
coastal areas. These requirements are related to coastal flooding and impacts of sea 
level rise. Pursuant to Sec 163.3178(2)(f) of Florida Statute Peril of Flood Law, the 
proposed amendments were drafted by a consulting firm specializing in the Peril of 
Flood redevelopment component. The redevelopment component must include the six 
strategies outlined in the state statue addressing best management practices that 
reduce losses due to flooding. Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon stated 
that the Planning Board has the authority to further edit both the existing and proposed 
language. Proposed amendment recommendations made by Chairperson Paul Ritz, 
Vice Chair Larson, Board Members Grundhoefer, Van Hoose, and Powel were 
discussed and notated by Assistant Planning & Zoning Manager Cannon. Vice Chair 
Larson motioned to approve as amended, seconded by Board Member Powell, 
and vote carried 6:0.  
 



City of Pensacola 
Planning Board  
Minutes for April 12, 2022 
Page 6 

 
 

 
Open Forum – none 
 
Discussion – none 
 
Adjournment – With no further business, the Board adjourned at 5:24 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Cynthia Cannon, AICP 
Assistant Planning Director 
Secretary of the Board 
 
 
 


